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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 
 

and            

 

         Cases 06-CA-198724 and 

                    06-CA-199538
1
 

                

 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

COUNSEL FOR THE GENERAL COUNSEL’S OPPOSITION TO 

RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSOLIDATED 

COMPLAINT FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION 

 

I. Introduction 

Counsel for the General Counsel respectfully submits this Opposition to Respondent’s 

Motion to Dismiss Allegations in the Consolidated Complaint for Lack of Jurisdiction 

(“Motion”), in the above-referenced matter.
2
  By the Motion, Respondent seeks to have 

paragraphs 7 through 12, all of which allege violations of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, dismissed 

from the Consolidated Complaint (“Consolidated Complaint”), on jurisdictional grounds, 

arguing that the allegations have no factual nexus to the underlying charge and are the result of 

an improper exercise of authority.  Counsel for the General Counsel stringently opposes 

Respondent’s baseless Motion, which is wholly unsupported by fact or applicable law. As 

discussed below, Respondent’s arguments for seeking dismissal of paragraphs 7 through 12 are 

                                                 
1
 The case caption reflects the December 22, 2017 Order Approving Withdrawal Request in Case 06-CA-201097 

(Order), which is attached as Exhibit 2.  

 
2
  A copy of Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint, filed November 16, 2017, is attached as General Counsel 

Exhibit 1.  
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fundamentally flawed and Respondent fails to establish that the Board lacks jurisdiction over any 

portion of the case.
3
 

In support of this Opposition, Counsel for the General Counsel states the following: 

II.  Background and Procedural History  

 The charge in Case 06-CA-198724 was filed on May 11, 2017 by the Union, and a copy 

was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on May 15, 2017. The amended charge in Case 06-CA-

198724 was filed by the Union on August 15, 2017, and a copy was served on Respondent by 

U.S. mail on August 15, 2017.  In this charge, the Union alleged that the Employer unlawfully 

discharged employee Jason Davis for engaging in a Union organizing campaign. 

The charge in Case 06-CA-199538 was filed by the Union on May 25, 2017, and a copy 

was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on May 26, 2017. Specifically, the charge alleged that 

since about December 9, 2016, the Employer “. . . coerced, restrained and interfered with its 

employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights by acts of interrogation, threats, statements of 

futility, solicitation of grievances, promising benefits, granting benefits, and other acts, conduct, 

and statements in order to discourage employee support for unionization.” 

On September 29, 2017, based upon the charges in Cases 06-CA-198724, 06-CA-

199538, and 06-CA-201097, and pursuant to Section 10(b) of the National Labor Relations Act, 

29 U.S.C. 151 et seq. (the Act) and Section 102.15 of the Rules and Regulations of the National 

Labor Relations Board (the Board), the Regional Director of Region 6 issued a Consolidated 

Complaint and Notice of Hearing in this matter.
4
  

                                                 
3
 While Respondent’s Motion references paragraph 10(b) of the Consolidated Complaint, it is unnecessary to 

address those arguments herein or to litigate that allegation, as it was encompassed by Case 6-CA-201097, which 

has been withdrawn with the Regional Director’s approval by Order dated December 22, 2017.    

 
4
 A copy of the Consolidated Complaint is attached as Exhibit 3. 
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On October 3, 2017, the Regional Director of Region 6 issued a First Amendment to the 

Consolidated Complaint, correcting the deadline for Respondent’s Answer to the Consolidated 

Complaint.
5
 

On October 13, 2017, Respondent filed its Answer to the Consolidated Complaint, 

admitting some of the allegations and denying others.
6
 

The Regional Director of Region 6 issued a Second Amendment to the Consolidated 

Complaint on November 2, 2017, which added an allegation to paragraph 10 of the Complaint.
7
 

On November 16, 2017, Respondent filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the 

Consolidated Complaint, denying some allegations and admitting to others.
8
  On that same date, 

Respondent filed the instant Motion. 

A trial in this matter before an Administrative Law Judge of the NLRB is currently set to 

commence on January 29, 2018.  

III. Discussion 

A. The Charge in Case 06-CA-199538 Encompasses Allegations Contained in   

the Consolidated Complaint, and Respondent Was Provided with Proper 

Notice of All Allegations. 

 

In support of its Motion, Respondent claims that the Board lacks jurisdiction over this 

matter, lack of Board jurisdiction, citing the statutory provisions of Section 10(b) of the Act to 

assert that in pursuing the allegations in paragraphs 7 through 12 of the Consolidated Complaint, 

                                                 
5
 A copy of the First Amendment to the Consolidated Complaint is attached as Exhibit 4. 

 
6
 A copy of Respondent’s Answer to Consolidated Complaint is attached as Exhibit 5.  

 
7
 A copy of the Second Amendment to the Consolidated Complaint is attached as Exhibit 6. The subject allegation 

was added at the instruction of the Division of Advice, and related Tri-Cast, 274 NLRB 377 (1985). The allegation 

was withdrawn, pursuant to a request by the Union, as part of the Order attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  

 
8
 A copy of Respondent’s November 16, 2017 Answer and Affirmative Defenses is attached as Exhibit 7. Regarding 

paragraphs 7 through 12, which are the subject of Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, Respondent denied the 

allegations therein and asserted that the Board lacks jurisdiction over the allegations. 
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the Board has initiated unfair labor practice proceedings for which it lacks independent authority.  

Respondent’s contention in this regard is both tortuous and contrived.  While Respondent 

focuses heavily in its Motion on the dates and method by which it learned of the allegations 

under investigation by the Region, this recitation is nothing but a diversionary tactic designed to 

create smoke in the absence of any fire.  In short, it is clear from Respondent’s own account of 

those events that Respondent was consistently advised of the matters under investigation by the 

Region.  Indeed, as referenced by Respondent in its Motion, Respondent was provided with 

multiple opportunities to address the allegations, which it did by providing statements of position 

regarding the allegations.
 9

  Accordingly, the charge and its allegations were precisely 

communicated by the Region and understood by Respondent.
10

  To suggest otherwise is patently 

disingenuous.   

Respondent places special emphasis on the charge language in Case 06-CA-199538, 

claiming that it lacked sufficient detail to support the allegations in paragraphs 7 through 12 of 

the Consolidated Complaint.  A review of the charge completes a rejection of Respondent’s 

arguments in this regard.  More particularly, the charge in Case 06-CA-199538 alleges several 

very specific types of unlawful conduct by Respondent (interrogation, threats, statements of 

                                                 
9
 Moreover, this is sufficient for the Board’s purposes in evaluating Respondent’s Motion.  Section 102.24(b) of the 

Board’s Rules and Regulations provides, in relevant part, that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment or 

dismissal is not required to submit affidavits or documentary evidence to show that there is a genuine issue for 

hearing, and that “[t]he Board in its discretion may deny the motion where the motion itself fails to establish the 

absence of a genuine issue, or where the opposing party’s pleadings, opposition and/or response indicate on their 

face that a genuine issue may exist.” See KIRO, Inc., 311 NLRB 745, 746 (1993); Glass Fabricators, Inc., 365 

NLRB No. 125 (Aug. 23, 2017). 

 
10

 To the extent that Respondent, on pages 8-9 of its Motion, claims that the Region informed Respondent of the 

allegation contained in Complaint paragraph 7(b) on about August 30, 2017, at the same time that the Region 

communicated the Regional Director’s other case determinations to Respondent, Respondent neglects to mention 

that the Region simultaneously afforded Respondent an opportunity to provide any additional evidence or response 

related to this allegation, which the Regional Director would consider prior to including the allegation in a 

complaint.  Respondent had almost an entire month in which to present evidence on the allegation before issuance of 

the Consolidated Complaint, but it chose not to do so.  In these circumstances, Respondent’s claim of surprise is 

specious, at best. 



5 

 

futility, solicitation of grievances, promising benefits, granting benefits, and other acts, conduct, 

and statements . . . .”) and consistent with the Board’s Rules and Regulations, Section 101.8, the 

Region’s Consolidated Complaint, paragraphs 7 through 12, allege violations of the same, with 

sufficient accompanying facts.  Thus, the charge in Case 06-CA-199538 fully encompasses the 

allegations set forth in Consolidated Complaint. 

B. The Consolidated Complaint is Consistent with Long-Standing U.S. Supreme 

Court Precedent. 

 

 Respondent additionally argues in its Motion that paragraphs 7 through 12 of the 

Consolidated Complaint should be dismissed on the grounds that they result from an improper 

expansion of the investigation and an impermissible initiation of a complaint. This argument, 

too, must fail.  The U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that the Board’s processes must 

allow for a broad inquiry, in order to properly discharge the duty imposed upon it by Congress.  

In National Licorice Co. v. NLRB, 309 U.S. 350 (1940), the Supreme Court addressed the 

question of the Board’s jurisdiction with respect to allegations not specifically alleged in a 

charge, but pled in a complaint. The Supreme Court’s conclusion unambiguously recognized the 

Board’s powers to deal with unfair labor practice allegations in this manner, both alleged in a 

charge and which grow out of those allegations:  

Whatever restrictions the requirements of a charge may be thought to place upon 

subsequent proceedings by the Board, we can find no warrant in the language or 

purposes of the Act for saying that it precludes the Board from dealing adequately with 

unfair labor practices which are related to those alleged in the charge and which grow out 

of them while the proceeding is pending before the Board. . . . All are of the same class of 

violations as those set up in the charge and were continuations of them in pursuance of 

the same objects. The Board's jurisdiction having been invoked to deal with the first 

steps, it had authority to deal with those which followed as a consequence of those 

already taken. We think the court below correctly held that ‘the Board was within its 

power in treating the whole sequence as one.’ (internal citations omitted). Id. at 369. 
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In NLRB v. Fant Milling Co., 360 U.S. 301 (1959), the U.S. Supreme Court again 

addressed the permissible breadth of charge language and the relationship between a charge and 

allegations of a complaint.  In analyzing a charge that generally alleged a violation of Section 

8(a)(5) of the Act, and the resultant complaint which included specific violations of Section 

8(a)(5),  including a wage increase implemented without notice to the union, the Court upheld  

National Licorice Co., supra, finding that the Board had jurisdiction with respect to the 

complaint and stating:    

A charge filed with the Labor Board is not to be measured by the 

standards applicable to a pleading in a private lawsuit. Its purpose is 

merely to set in motion the machinery of an inquiry. National Labor 

Relations Board v. Indiana & Michigan Electric Co., 318 U.S. 9, 18, 63 

S.Ct. 394, 400, 87 L.Ed. 579. The responsibility of making that inquiry, 

and of framing the issues in the case is one that Congress has imposed 

upon the Board, not the charging party. To confine the Board in its inquiry 

and in framing the complaint to the specific matters alleged in the charge 

would reduce the statutory machinery to a vehicle for the vindication of 

private rights. This would be alien to the basic purpose of the Act. The 

Board was created not to adjudicate private controversies but to advance 

the public interest in eliminating obstructions to interstate commerce, as 

this Court has recognized from the beginning. National Labor Relations 

Board v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 57 S.Ct. 615, 81 L.Ed. 

893. 

 

Once its jurisdiction is invoked the Board must be left free to make full 

inquiry under its broad investigatory power in order properly to 

discharge the duty of protecting public rights which Congress has imposed 

upon it. There can be no justification for confining such an inquiry to the 

precise particularizations of a charge. 

Id. at 307-08. 

 

 The Consolidated Complaint in the instant matter fully comports with Supreme Court 

precedent on this issue. Though the violations are set forth generally in the charge, the 

Consolidated Complaint contains the specific facts of each allegation. There can be no doubt that 

the Consolidated Complaint allegations are directly related to those alleged in the charge and that 

they grew out of those while the proceedings have been pending.  In this regard, the charge’s 
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inclusion of several types of alleged unlawful Section 8(a)(1) conduct provided a proper basis for 

the Board to address the specifically enumerated  allegations of the Consolidated Complaint 

revealed by the investigation. The Consolidated Complaint allegations are the result of the proper 

exercise of Board powers and the appropriate discharge of its duties to protect public rights. To 

find the allegations at issue here outside of the scope of the Board’s jurisdiction would deviate 

entirely from the intentions of Congress and the purposes of the Act.  

C. The Regional Director’s Consolidated Complaint is Wholly Compliant with 

Applicable Board Law. 

 

In its Motion, Respondent misapplies Board considerations on the subject of substantial 

relatedness, thereby reaching a dangerous and untenable conclusion. In this regard, taking issue 

with alleged boilerplate language in the charge in Case 06-CA-199538, and relying upon Nickles 

Bakery of Indiana, 296 NLRB 927 (1989) and Redd-I, 290 NLRB 1115 (1988), Respondent 

asserts that there is insufficient factual nexus between the allegations in the Complaint and the 

timely filed charge. This argument, too, is contrived and must fail.  

 The Board in Nickles Bakery held that it will use a “closely related” test to evaluate 

whether allegations not included in a charge can be included in a complaint. The Board considers 

allegations to be closely related if: (1) they “are of the same class as the violations alleged” in the 

charge, “mean[ing] that the allegations must all involve the same legal theory and usually the 

same section of the Act (e.g., 8(a)(3) reprisals against union activity);” (2) they “arise from the 

same factual situation or sequence of events” as the violations alleged in the charge, “mean[ing] 

that the allegations must involve similar conduct, usually during the same time period with a 

similar object (e.g., terminations during the same few months directed at stopping the same 

union organizing campaign);” and (3) they would call for the respondent to “raise the same or 

similar defenses” as the violations alleged in the charge. Redd-I, Inc., supra, at 1115-16. 
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Regarding the second prong of the Redd-I test, in The Carney Hospital, 350 NLRB 627, 

630 (2007), the Board found that “chronological coincidence during a union’s campaign does not 

warrant the implication that all challenged employer actions are related to one another as part of 

a planned response to that campaign.”  However, a showing that the timely and untimely alleged 

employer actions are “part of an overall employer plan to undermine the union activity” is 

sufficient to show factual relatedness.  Id. 

Preliminarily, if analyzed using the Redd-I test, the Consolidated Complaint in this matter 

is clearly proper. In this regard, the allegations in the charge in Case 06-CA-199538 and the 

Complaint allegations at issue are of the same class of violations (Section 8(a)(1) violations). 

Also, the Complaint allegations arise from the same facts as those listed in the corresponding 

charge, and from the same context: Respondent’s responses to the Union’s organizing campaign.  

Finally, Respondent has, and surely will continue to, offer the same or similar defenses for both 

sets of allegations. So, too, were Respondent’s actions were part of an overall plan to undermine 

and erode support for the Union. 

 Respondent appears to hold a mistaken belief that the language in the face of the charge 

should contain the same specificity as language in a complaint, as it argues in its Motion that 

there were no speakers identified for the various types of Section 8(a)(1) conduct set forth in the 

charge.  Respondent is entirely misguided as to this fundamental point, for a Charging Party need 

not plead its evidence on the face of a charge.   See, Columbia University, 250 NLRB 1220, fn. 2 

(1980) (denying respondent’s motion to dismiss based on the use of only general Section 8(a)(1) 

language in the charge itself, and stating thus: “The Board has ruled that a charge alleging 

violation of Sec. 8(a)(1) in general terms is sufficient to support a complaint alleging 

discriminatory conduct directed at employees in violation of Sec. 8(a)(1). Pleading of all the 
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evidence in the charge is not required,” (citing Brookeville Glove Co., 116 NLRB 1282, 1291-92 

(1956).  

Here, all of the alleged violations as stated in the instant Consolidated Complaint are 

reflected in the charge language of Case 06-CA-199538, and the conduct described in paragraphs 

7 through 12 occurred within the six months preceding the filing of that charge.
11

 All allegations 

in the Complaint occurred within six months of the filing of a pending timely charge, and are the 

subject of that same charge.  Furthermore, as previously discussed, Respondent was apprised of 

the allegations and given ample opportunity to respond. 

In sum, under the applicable Board law, there is no reasonable basis for Respondent’s 

claim that Consolidated Complaint paragraphs 7 through 12 contravene the mandate of Section 

10(b) that the Board not act of its own initiative.  Consistent with Section 101.8 of the Board 

Rules and Regulations, the Region’s paragraphs 7 through 12 simply provide the facts related to 

Respondent’s alleged violations of law. The Region did not rely on “other acts” boilerplate 

language, as was the case in Nickles Bakery, supra at 929, to accommodate conduct that was not 

described in any manner.  The Region relied on the language already in the charge, which is 

patently more specific than that in Nickles Bakery, as it lists the types of alleged unlawful 

conduct by Respondent which is in turn reflected in the Consolidated Complaint allegations at 

issue. Respondent’s application of Nickles Bakery and Redd-I, therefore, is erroneous, and the 

Regional Director’s Consolidated Complaint conforms to a proper exercise of Board authority. 

 

 

                                                 
11

 Respondent’s frequent references in its Motion to the passage of time since the underlying representation case 

petition was withdrawn are nothing more than irrelevant distractions to the discussion, as Respondent’s obligation to 

refrain from engaging in conduct that violates the Act is ongoing and not merely dependent upon whether a petition 

is currently pending. What counts, of course, is the six-month statutory period for the filing of the charge under 

Section 10(b) of the Act.  
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D. Respondent’s Reliance on Lotus Suites v. NLRB (citation omitted) is 

Misplaced 

 

Finally, in support of its Motion, Respondent’s relies on Lotus Suites v. NLRB, 32 F.3d 

588 (D.C. Cir. 1994).  However, that case is distinguishable and thus fails to support 

Respondent’s claims. In Lotus Suites, the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit analyzed the 

Board’s treatment of a case in which the charge alleged only the most general of Section 8(a)(1) 

violations: that the Employer, “in order to discourage membership in a labor organization, 

discriminated in regard to the hire and tenure of employment and to the terms and conditions of 

employment of its full-time and regular part-time employees,” and  further, “[w]ithin the last six 

months, and thereafter, the above-named Employer, by the above and other acts, interfered with, 

restrained, and coerced its employees in the exercise of their rights as guaranteed by Section 7 of 

the Act.” Id. at 590. By contrast, the complaint related to Lotus Suites listed six specific instances 

of various types of Section 8(a)(1) violations.  

Again, the pleadings in the instant case are clearly distinguishable. Here, the charge in 

Case 06-CA-199538 lists the specific types of Section 8(a)(1) conduct  involved in the case, and 

could not reasonably be construed as utterly lacking in factual specificity.  The Consolidated 

Complaint further sets forth the specific allegations, which are consistent with the language of 

the charge.  Finally, the D.C. Circuit’s rulings are not controlling, and the Board is instead bound 

to follow existing Board law and U.S. Supreme Court precedent.  In Re Reg'l Const. Corp., 333 

NLRB 313, 316 (2001). 
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IV.   Conclusion 

For all of the above reasons, Counsel for the General Counsel respectfully requests that 

the Respondent’s Motion be denied in its entirety and that the January 29, 2018 trial date be 

preserved.   

 DATED at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, this 8th day of January, 2018. 

 

      ___/s/Emily M. Sala_______________ 

      Emily M. Sala 

      Counsel for the General Counsel 

      National Labor Relations Board 

      Region 6 

      1000 Liberty Avenue, Room 904 

      Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania  15222 
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AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE 

 The undersigned Counsel for the General Counsel hereby certifies that the attached 

Opposition To Respondent’s Motion To Dismiss The Complaint has been e-filed this 8th day of 

January, 2018, upon the following parties, as indicated: 

 

 

VIA E-FILING ONLY 

Office of the Executive Secretary 

NLRB 

 

 

Mary Cate Gordon, Esq. 

Daniel Johns, Esq. 

Counsel for Respondent 

Email: gordonmc@ballardspahr.com 

 Johns@ballardspahr.com 

 

Mike McGee, Organizer 

E-mail: mmcgee@ibew712.org 

 

 

 

 

 

      __/s/Emily M. Sala________________ 

Emily M. Sala 

      Counsel for the General Counsel 

      National Labor Relations Board 

      Region 6 

      1000 Liberty Avenue, Room 904 

      Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania  15222 

 

mailto:gordonmc@ballardspahr.com
mailto:Johns@ballardspahr.com
mailto:mmcgee@ibew712.org
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 

and Cases 06-CA-198724; 

06-CA-199538; and 

06-CA-201097  

06-CA-201097

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, AFL-CIO AND 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

ORDER APPROVING WITHDRAWAL REQUEST IN CASE 06-CA-201097 and 

PARTIAL WITHDRAWAL REQUEST IN CASE 06-CA-199538 

       An Order Consolidating Cases, Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing issued in  

the above-captioned matter on September 29, 2017, and an Amendment to the Order 

Consolidating Cases, Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing issued on October 3, 2017, 

and a Second Amendment to Consolidated Complaint issued on November 2, 2017.  Thereafter, 

the Charging Party requested to withdraw the allegation in Case 06-CA-199538, as set forth in 

paragraph 10(b) of the Second Amendment to the Consolidated Complaint.   The Charging Party 

also requested withdrawal of the charge in Case 06-CA-201097, which is the basis for paragraph 

13 of the Consolidated Complaint, based on the Board issuance of the decision in The Boeing 

Company, 365 NLRB No. 104 (Dec. 14, 2017).   

Having duly considered the requests for withdrawal, 

IT IS ORDERED that the partial withdrawal request in Case 06-CA-199538 and the 

request to withdraw the charge in Case 06-CA-201097 are approved, and 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that paragraph 10(b) of the Second Amendment to the 

Consolidated Complaint is withdrawn and paragraph 13 of the Consolidated Complaint is 

withdrawn. Finally, all other sections of the Consolidated Complaint which reference paragraphs 

10(b) and 13 are removed. 

Dated:  December 22, 2017 

 /s/ Tara Yoest 

TARA YOEST 

ACTING REGIONAL DIRECTOR 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 06 

1000 Liberty Ave Rm 904 

Pittsburgh, PA 15222-4111 

EXHIBIT 2



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 
 

and Case 06-CA-198724; 06-CA-

199538; 06-CA-201097 

 
INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, AFL-CIO AND 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OF: Order Approving Withdrawal Request in Case  

06-CA-201097 and Partial Withdrawal Request in Case 06-CA-199538 dated 

December 22, 2017. 

 

I, the undersigned employee of the National Labor Relations Board, being duly sworn, say that 

on December 22, 2017, I served the above-entitled document(s) by regular mail upon the 

following persons, addressed to them at the following addresses: 

Comcast Cable Communications  

Management, LLC 

Michael L. King, Director of Field  

Operations, Tech Operations 

2810 Darlington Road 

Beaver Falls, PA 15010-1028 

 

Mary Cate Gordon, Esquire 

Ballard, Spahr, Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP 

210 Lake Dr. E. 

Ste. 200 

Cherry Hill, NJ 08002-1163 

 

Erin K. Clarke, Esquire 

Ballard, Spahr, Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP 

1735 Market Street, 51st Floor 

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599 

Daniel V. Johns, Esquire 

Ballard, Spahr, Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP 

1735 Market Street, 51st Floor 

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599 

International Brotherhood of Electrical  

Workers, AFL-CIO 

Michael L. McGee, Organizer 

217 Sassafras Lane 

Beaver, PA 15009 

 

                                                                                                                                           

                       

                 December 22, 2017 

 Beverly Berger 

Designated Agent of NLRB 

Date  Name 

 

                        /s/ Beverly Berger 

  Signature 
 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 

and 

         Cases 06-CA-198724; 

          06-CA-199538; and 

 06-CA-201097 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

ORDER CONSOLIDATING CASES,  

CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT AND NOTICE OF HEARING 

Pursuant to Section 102.33 of the Rules and Regulations of the National Labor Relations 

Board (“the Board”) and to avoid unnecessary costs or delay, IT IS ORDERED THAT Case 06-

CA-199538, which is based on a charge filed by the International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers, Local 712, AFL-CIO (“Union”)  against Comcast, herein described by its correct 

name, Comcast Cable Communications Management, LLC, and herein called “Respondent,”  

and Cases 06-CA-198724 and 06-CA-201097, which are based on charges filed by the Union 

against Respondent, are consolidated. 

This Order Consolidating Cases, Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing, which 

is based on these charges, is issued pursuant to Section 10(b) of the National Labor Relations Act 

(the Act), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., and Section 102.15 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations, and 

alleges that Respondent has violated the Act as described below. 

1.  (a) The charge in Case 06-CA-198724 was filed by the Union on May 11, 

2017, and a copy was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on May 15, 2017. 

EXHIBIT 3
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 (b) The amended charge in Case 06-CA-198724 was filed by the Union on August 

15, 2017, and a copy was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on August 15, 2017. 

      (c) The charge in Case 06-CA-199538 was filed by the Union on May 25, 2017, and a 

copy was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on May 26, 2017. 

      (d) The charge in Case 06-CA-201097 was filed by the Union on June 21, 2017, and a 

copy was served on Respondent by U.S. mail on June 22, 2017. 

2.            At all material times, Respondent, a Delaware corporation with an office and 

place of business in Beaver Falls, Pennsylvania (“Respondent’s BFSC facility”), has been 

engaged in providing telecommunication services.   

3.        (a) Annually, Respondent, in conducting is business operations described above in 

paragraph 2, derives gross revenues in excess of $100,000 from the operation of its business. 

       (b) Annually, Respondent, in conducting its business operations described in 

paragraph 2, has purchased and received at Respondent’s BFSC facility, goods valued in excess 

of $50,000 directly from points outside of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.   

4.           At all material times, Respondent has been an employer engaged in commerce 

within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act. 

5.         At all material times, the Union has been a labor organization within the meaning 

of Section 2(5) of the Act. 

6.          At all material times, the following individuals held the positions set forth 

opposite their respective names and have been supervisors of Respondent within the meaning of 

Section 2(11) of the Act and agents of Respondent within the meaning of Section 2(13) of the 

Act: 

Lori Lafferty - Human Resources Manager  
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Danielle Erringer - Human Resources Director  

Kristen Harris - Senior Manager of Employee Relations and  

  Engagement 

 

John Meyers - Regional Vice President (Keystone Region) 

Steve Trippe - Vice President of Operations (Keystone Region) 

Michael King   - Director of Field Operations, Tech Operations 

Marc Golden - Supervisor, Network Maintenance  

Christine Whitaker - Senior Vice President (Keystone Region) 

Deric Bomar - Vice President of Labor Relations 

John MacGowan - Vice President of Labor Relations 

Greg Wagner - Supervisor, Respondent’s Corliss Street facility in 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania  

David Henning  -  Manager, Network Maintenance  

7. Respondent, by Marc Golden: 

  (a) About late December 2016 or early January 2017, on a date presently 

unknown to the General Counsel but within Respondent’s knowledge, during a ride-out in one of 

Respondent’s vehicles, interrogated its employees regarding their union activities and/or support 

for the Union. 

(b)  About January 2017, on a date unknown to the General Counsel but within  

Respondent’s knowledge, during an end-of-month vehicle check held in Respondent’s BFSC 

facility parking lot, threatened its employees with stricter enforcement of Respondent’s rules. 

8.  Respondent, by David Henning, in about late December 2016 or early January 

2017, on a date unknown to the General Counsel but within Respondent’s knowledge, during a 

ride-out in one of Respondent’s vehicles, interrogated its employees regarding their union 

activities and/or support for the Union. 
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9.  Respondent, by Greg Wagner or an unidentified supervisor of Respondent, on 

about December 16, 2016, during a ride-out in one of Respondent’s vehicles, interrogated its 

employees regarding their union activities and/or support for the Union. 

10.  Respondent, by John MacGowan and Deric Bomar, in about December 2016 or 

early January 2017, at a mandatory employee meeting held at the Respondent’s BFSC facility, 

threatened its employees with the loss of quarterly bonuses. 

11. Respondent, by John MacGowan and Deric Bomar, in about December 2016 or 

early January 2017, at a mandatory employee meeting held at the Respondent’s BFSC facility, 

threatened its employees with lower annual pay increases. 

12.  In about December 2016, Respondent accelerated its implementation of 

improvements in the routing function used to dispatch its employees employed at Respondent’s 

BFSC facility.   

13. Since about April 2017, Respondent has maintained the following provisions in 

its corporate Code of Conduct policy: 

(a) PRINCIPLES OF BUSINESS CONDUCT 

The foundation of the Code consists of the following important 

principles of business conduct, which are the key ingredients in 

establishing and maintaining trust: 

 *** 

Avoid conflicts of interest, and the appearance of such conflicts, 

between work and personal affairs. 

*** 

(b) CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: WHAT TO KNOW 

 We all must avoid conflicts of interest and make business decisions 

in the best interests of the Company. 

 A conflict of interest may exists when you are involved in 

activities that might interfere, or appear to interfere, with the 

performance of your duties and responsibilities, or that could harm 

the Company’s reputation or business relationships. 
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 You must disclose and receive approval, as needed, for all outside 

work, financial interests and other personal activities or 

relationships that may create, or appear to create a conflict of 

interest.  A potential conflict of interest could arise if you have the 

ability to influence Company decisions relating to employment or 

business transactions that affect a family member or close personal 

relationship. 

*** 

 

(c) CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: WHAT TO DO 

 

 Avoid personal activities or relationships that may cause actual or 

potential conflicts or create the appearance of a conflict with your 

job or the Company’s interests. 

*** 

 Do not use Company assets, information, resources or influence 

for personal benefit or to promote an outside business or activity of 

yours, a family member or a close personal relationship.  This 

includes the use of Company facilities, office equipment, email, 

employee or client information, software or company applications. 

*** 

 

(d) FINANCIAL INTERESTS: WHAT TO WATCH FOR  

 

 Personal relationships that may conflict with your job 

responsibilities or compromise Company interests. 

 Activities that would lead an impartial person to question whether 

your motivations are consistent with your job or the Company’s 

best interests. 

*** 

14.  On about April 21, 2017, Respondent discharged its employee Jason Davis.   

15.  Respondent engaged in the conduct described above in paragraph 14 because 

Jason Davis formed, joined, and/or assisted the Union and engaged in protected concerted 

activities,
 
and to discourage its employees from engaging in these activities. 

16.  By the conduct described above in paragraphs 7 through 13, Respondent has been 

interfering with, restraining, and coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in 

Section 7 of the Act in violation of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 
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17. By the conduct described above in paragraphs 14 and 15, Respondent has been 

discriminating in regard to the hire or tenure or terms or conditions of employment of its 

employees, thereby discouraging membership in a labor organization in violation of 

Section 8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act. 

18.  The unfair labor practices of Respondent described above affect commerce within 

the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act. 

REQUESTED REMEDIES 

In view of the fact that the Respondent maintains the rule listed in paragraph 13 on a 

corporate-wide basis and that the Respondent maintains the rule on its internal intranet and the 

internet, the General Counsel seeks an Order requiring the Respondent to: (1) rescind the rule set 

forth above in paragraph 13 on a nation-wide basis; (2) post in all its facilities any Notice to 

Employees that may issue in this proceeding with respect to the allegation set forth in paragraph 

13; and (3) electronically post any Notice to Employees that may issue in this proceeding with 

respect to the allegation set forth in paragraph 13 for employees at all its facilities.   

As part of the remedy for the Respondent’s unfair labor practices alleged in paragraphs 7 

through 14, the General Counsel seeks an Order requiring Respondent to transmit, by E-Mail and 

Respondent’s intranet system, to all employees at Respondent’s BFSC facility, a copy of the 

Notice to Employees required in this case.  The General Counsel further seeks all other relief as 

may be just and proper to remedy the unfair labor practices alleged. 

As part of the remedy for the unfair labor practice alleged above in paragraphs 14 and 15, 

the General Counsel seeks an Order requiring that the Respondent:  
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(a) Reimburse Jason Davis for all search-for-work and work-related expenses regardless 

of whether the discriminatee(s) received interim earnings in excess of these expenses, or at all, 

during any given quarter, or during the overall backpay period. 

(b) Reimburse Jason Davis for reasonable consequential damages incurred by him as a 

result of the Respondent's unlawful conduct.   

(c) The General Counsel further seeks all other relief as may be just and proper to remedy 

the unfair labor practices alleged. 

ANSWER REQUIREMENT 

Respondent is notified that, pursuant to Sections 102.20 and 102.21 of the Board’s Rules 

and Regulations, it must file an answer to the consolidated complaint.  The answer must be 

received by this office on or before October 12, 2017, or postmarked on or before October 

11, 2017.  Respondent should file an original and four copies of the answer with this office and 

serve a copy of the answer on each of the other parties. 

An answer may also be filed electronically through the Agency’s website.  To file 

electronically, go to www.nlrb.gov, click on E-File Documents, enter the NLRB Case Number, 

and follow the detailed instructions.  The responsibility for the receipt and usability of the answer 

rests exclusively upon the sender.  Unless notification on the Agency’s website informs users 

that the Agency’s E-Filing system is officially determined to be in technical failure because it is 

unable to receive documents for a continuous period of more than 2 hours after 12:00 noon 

(Eastern Time) on the due date for filing, a failure to timely file the answer will not be excused 

on the basis that the transmission could not be accomplished because the Agency’s website was 

off-line or unavailable for some other reason.  The Board’s Rules and Regulations require that an 

answer be signed by counsel or non-attorney representative for represented parties or by the  
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party if not represented.  See Section 102.21.  If the answer being filed electronically is a pdf 

document containing the required signature, no paper copies of the answer need to be transmitted 

to the Regional Office.  However, if the electronic version of an answer to a complaint is not a 

pdf file containing the required signature, then the E-filing rules require that such answer 

containing the required signature continue to be submitted to the Regional Office by traditional 

means within three (3) business days after the date of electronic filing.  Service of the answer on 

each of the other parties must still be accomplished by means allowed under the Board’s Rules 

and Regulations.  The answer may not be filed by facsimile transmission.  If no answer is filed, 

or if an answer is filed untimely, the Board may find, pursuant to a Motion for Default Judgment, 

that the allegations in the consolidated complaint are true. 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT on January 29, 2018, at 10:00 a.m., at the National 

Labor Relations Board, Region 6 Office, William S. Moorhead Federal Building, 1000 Liberty 

Avenue, Room 904, Pittsburgh, PA and on consecutive days thereafter until concluded, a hearing 

will be conducted before an administrative law judge of the National Labor Relations Board.  At 

the hearing, Respondent and any other party to this proceeding have the right to appear and  
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present testimony regarding the allegations in this consolidated complaint.  The procedures to be 

followed at the hearing are described in the attached Form NLRB-4668.  The procedure to 

request a postponement of the hearing is described in the attached Form NLRB-4338. 

Dated:  September 29, 2017 

                                                                            /s/ Suzanne C. Bernett      

SUZANNE C. BERNETT 

ACTING REGIONAL DIRECTOR 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 06 

1000 Liberty Ave Rm 904 

Pittsburgh, PA 15222-4111 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 

and Cases 06-CA-198724; 

06-CA-199538; and 

06-CA-201097 

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF  

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

AMENDMENT TO ORDER CONSOLIDATING CASES, 

CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT 

An Order Consolidating Cases, Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing having 

issued on September 29, 2017, 

IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to Section 102.17 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations that 

the above Consolidated Complaint is amended in the following respect: 

ANSWER REQUIREMENT 

The Answer Requirement is corrected to state that the answer must be received by this 

office on or before October 13, 2017, or postmarked on or before October 12, 2017.  

An answer may also be filed electronically through the Agency’s website.  To file 

electronically, go to www.nlrb.gov, click on E-File Documents, enter the NLRB Case Number, 

and follow the detailed instructions.  The responsibility for the receipt and usability of the answer 

rests exclusively upon the sender.  Unless notification on the Agency’s website informs users 

that the Agency’s E-Filing system is officially determined to be in technical failure because it is 

unable to receive documents for a continuous period of more than 2 hours after 12:00 noon 

(Eastern Time) on the due date for filing, a failure to timely file the answer will not be excused 

on the basis that the transmission could not be accomplished because the Agency’s website was 
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off-line or unavailable for some other reason.  The Board’s Rules and Regulations require that an 

answer be signed by counsel or non-attorney representative for represented parties or by the  

party if not represented.  See Section 102.21.  If the answer being filed electronically is a pdf 

document containing the required signature, no paper copies of the answer need to be transmitted 

to the Regional Office.  However, if the electronic version of an answer to a complaint is not a 

pdf file containing the required signature, then the E-filing rules require that such answer 

containing the required signature continue to be submitted to the Regional Office by traditional 

means within three (3) business days after the date of electronic filing.  Service of the answer on 

each of the other parties must still be accomplished by means allowed under the Board’s Rules 

and Regulations.  The answer may not be filed by facsimile transmission.  If no answer is filed, 

or if an answer is filed untimely, the Board may find, pursuant to a Motion for Default Judgment, 

that the allegations in the consolidated complaint are true. 

 

Dated: October 3, 2017 

 

 

         
     _____________________________ 

                                                                                  NANCY WILSON 

                                                                                  REGIONAL DIRECTOR 

                                                                                  NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD  

                                                                                  REGION 06  

                                                                                  1000 Liberty Ave Room 904  

                                                                                  Pittsburgh, PA  15222-4111 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 6 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS 

MANAGEMENT, LLC 

and           Cases 06-CA-198724; 

 06-CA-199538; and 

 06-CA-201097 INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS, LOCAL 712, AFL-CIO 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSOLIDATED COMPLAINT 

An Order Consolidating Cases, Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing having 

issued on September 29, 2017, and an Amendment to the Order Consolidating Cases, 

Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing having issued on October 3, 2017, 

IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to Section 102.17 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations that 

the above Consolidated Complaint is further amended in the following respects: 

Paragraph 10 is amended as follows: 

10. Respondent, by John MacGowan and Deric Bomar, in about December 2016 or

early January 2017, at a mandatory employee meeting held at Respondent’s BFSC facility: 

(a) Threatened its employees with the loss of quarterly bonuses; and 

(b) Told its employees that if they selected union representation they would no longer be 

permitted to contact management directly with their questions, concerns, or problems. 
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ANSWER REQUIREMENT 

Respondent is notified that, pursuant to Sections 102.20 and 102.21 of the Board’s Rules 

and Regulations, it must file an answer to the second amendment to complaint.  The answer must 

be received by this office on or before November 16, 2017, or postmarked on or before 

November 15, 2017.  Respondent should file an original and four copies of the answer with this 

office and serve a copy of the answer on each of the other parties. 

An answer may also be filed electronically through the Agency’s website.  To file 

electronically, go to www.nlrb.gov, click on E-File Documents, enter the NLRB Case Number,  

and follow the detailed instructions.  The responsibility for the receipt and usability of the answer   

rests exclusively upon the sender.  Unless notification on the Agency’s website informs users 

that the Agency’s E-Filing system is officially determined to be in technical failure because it is 

unable to receive documents for a continuous period of more than 2 hours after 12:00 noon 

(Eastern Time) on the due date for filing, a failure to timely file the answer will not be excused 

on the basis that the transmission could not be accomplished because the Agency’s website was 

off-line or unavailable for some other reason.  The Board’s Rules and Regulations require that an 

answer be signed by counsel or non-attorney representative for represented parties or by the 

party if not represented. See Section 102.21.  If the answer being filed electronically is a pdf 

document containing the required signature, no paper copies of the answer need to be transmitted 

to the Regional Office.  However, if the electronic version of an answer to a complaint is not a 

pdf file containing the required signature, then the E-filing rules require that such answer 

containing the required signature continue to be submitted to the Regional Office by traditional 

means within three (3) business days after the date of electronic filing.  Service of the answer on 

each of the other parties must still be accomplished by means allowed under the Board’s Rules 
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and Regulations.  The answer may not be filed by facsimile transmission.  If no answer is filed, 

or if an answer is filed untimely, the Board may find, pursuant to a Motion for Default Judgment, 

that the allegations in the second amendment to complaint are true. 

Dated:  November 2, 2017 

                                                                                        

SUZANNE C. BERNETT 

ACTING REGIONAL DIRECTOR 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 06 

1000 Liberty Ave Rm 904 

Pittsburgh, PA 15222-4111 

 



EXHIBIT 7














	Comcast FINAL VERSION.
	Exhibits to Opposition Combined
	EXH1
	EXH2
	EXH3
	EXH4
	EXH5
	EXH6
	EXH7


